Questions and Answers 


Small Explorer and Missions of Opportunity AO 


Update of April 28, 1997


*Update of May 14, 1997


(Questions with numbers beginning with * are new or revised May 14, 1997)





A.  GENERAL QUESTIONS





1.  Is the letter of intent mandatory?





The letter of intent is mandatory for this AO.  If proposals are received from proposers who have not submitted a letter of intent, they will be returned without an evaluation.





2.  For a SMEX mission, do we have to specify a launch date, or can we take a launch in either 2000 or 2001?





You may propose a range of launch dates within the years 2000 and 2001.  If there are timing constraints, propose the appropriate launch window and explain the constraints.  Also, you should give a reference launch date on which your proposal is based.





3.  Is there a time constraint on Phase E?





Duration of Phase E is not limited.  Phase E funding is limited.





4.  My investigation will address major questions in two of the Science Themes.  How should I propose?





You will be allowed to identify a primary and a secondary Science Theme in the cover page of your proposal.  It is a good idea, however, to emphasize the scientific value for the primary Science Theme; the reviewers for the secondary Science Theme are not likely to be as excited about your proposal as the reviewers for the primary Science Theme.





5.  Why no proprietary data rights?





This program is supported by public funds, so NASA expects the data to be made publicly available after a brief period for data validation appropriate for the mission.





6.  Are letters of endorsement required for team members that are not making contributions (funds or in-kind contributions)?





A letter of commitment from the team member's institution is required as part of the concept study, not as part of the proposal.





7.  Does the launch vehicle count as part of the base for computing a 1 to 2% allocation to education & outreach?





No.  The base is the value of the contract with the PI's team.





*8.  Can we submit a proposal for instruments only and have NASA find another technically compatible mission where the instruments could ride as secondary payloads?





The SMEX AO does not solicit any secondary payloads, and proposals of this type will be rejected.  (The Explorer Workshop of May 6, 1997, however, recommended that secondary payloads be allowed in future Explorer AO’s.)





*9.  Does NASA have a standard list of deliverables that will be required for the SMEX program?





No.  We do not.





*10.  Is there any standard wording that should be used in the letters of endorsement?





No. 





*11.  Does a foldout page count as a single page or two?  Can a foldout page be printed on both sides and does each side count as a single fouldout pages?





Each foldout page counts as a single page in the page count.  The other side of the foldout page counts as a foldout page if it is used.





*12.  Can the page count guidance be violated if the total page count is not violated?





No.  Don’t violate the page count guidelines.





*13.  In Appendix C, there is a table of ground station costs in $K per hour.  Should we use only the pass time or should there be an allowance for setup time before the pass and reconfiguration after the pass?





Contact Stanly Fishkind at the address given in Appendix C for guidance on this question.





*14.  Table B-1 lists only Instrument, Spacecraft and MSI&T for cost categories under Phase B/C/D.  These are not all the categories in our work breakdown structure.  Other items are, for example, Project Management, Systems Engineering, Outreach, Science, Reserves, etc.  Where should we put those?





For purposes of the cost table in B-1, "instrument" should include all


charges attributed to the instrument developer from beginning of phase B


through launch plus 30 days.  Science and some reasonable percentage of


project management, systems engineering, and reserves should be included.


Likewise, reasonable percentages of project management, etc. should be


charged to "spacecraft," as well as the charges attributed to the


spacecraft developer.  By MSI&T (Mission Systems Integration and Test) is


meant the activities of the integrator of instrument to spacecraft, which


includes assembly, functional and environmental testing of the satellite,


and integrator launch site support.  A reasonable percentage of project


management, etc. should likely be charged to this activity as well, through


launch plus 30 days.





For purposes of the cost table, preparation for operations should be


included in the "MSI&T" category as the footnote at the bottom of the table


states.





Perhaps an "other" category could be the proposed cost of the outreach


activity.





*15.  Does the 8% goal apply to the group of “Small  AND Small Disadvanted Businesses” or to the narrower group of just “Small Disadvantaged Businesses”?





There is a requirement for a small disadvantaged business plan as part of


the proposal, the requirements of which are given in the AO, Appendix B and


Appendix A (paragraph A of Section XIII).  For the proposal, the 8% applies


to small disadvantaged businesses, women-owned small businesses,


Historically Black Colleges and Universities, and minority educational


institutions.  No separate small business goal is required with the


proposal.





If selected for the concept study, the proposer will be asked to submit a


subcontracting plan which is to include small businesses.  Requirements for


this plan are given in Appendix A (paragraph B of Section XIII).  For this


plan, the selectee states his goals and negotiates them with NASA.








 B.  LAUNCH VEHICLE





1.  Are equatorial launches offered for Small Explorers?





Equatorial launches are possible but are a non-standard option, available at an additional cost.  As the SELV is currently in a procurement process, exact costs are not known.  For proposal purposes, the cost should be assumed to be 20% above the cost for the small-class option as given in Table D-2 of Appendix D.  No SELV equatorial capability is currently planned for the larger option.





2.  Referring to Table D-2 in Appendix D, if I want more capability in an SELV than the small-class version, must I assume a cost of $28M?





For proposal purposes, yes.  Once the SELV contract is awarded, the various options and their associated costs will be better known.





3.  Why does NASA exclude the purchase of launch vehicles when it allows the purchase of other foreign goods and services?





The National Space Policy, signed by the President, states that only launch vehicles manufactured in the United States may be purchased.





4.  Why restrict SELV to a U.S. launch site?





Launch at a non-U.S. launch site is possible but not as a standard service. For information on this option, contact the GSFC OLS Project Office at the address given in Appendix D of the AO.





*5.  What costs are charged to an investigation that ulilizes a reusable flight platform (e.g., Spartan ) that is released from the Space Shuttle?





If the investigation is the intended first use of the platform, the cost of platform development as well as integration costs are charged against the investigation.  If the investigation is not the first intended use of the platform, then only refurbishment and integration costs are charged against the investigation.  It is the responsibility of the PI to identify those costs that a platform provider would charge to support his mission.





6.  The email address for the point of contact for proposers who wish to use the Space Shuttle as the launch vehicle does not work (Page 12 of Appendix D).  What is the correct email address?





The corrected email address is <dcarson@pop700.gsfc.nasa.gov>.





 7.  Are Space Shuttle or Space Station attached payloads allowed?





For this AO, only Space Station attached payloads are allowed and only in the Missions of Opportunity mode.





*8.  Why are launches on the Space Shuttle so expensive?  I thought they were free to space science.





Space Shuttle missions are a cost to NASA and are to be included in the Total Mission Cost.





*9.  Why does the launch of Spartan Lite cost the same as a launch of a Spartan 400?





There are many parameters that go into assessing the cost share of a particular payload on a particular Shuttle mission, and we chose to simplify the rules with one price and shift the focus to the science.  We will revisit the pricing structure for future Explorer AO’s.








 C.  Missions of Opportunity





1.  What state of approval does a non-US Mission of Opportunity have to be in and by when to qualify as valid for this AO.  Can it also be in an official study phase and be valid?





If the sponsoring agency is not planning to release an AO in the very near future (requiring NASA commitment before Dec. 31, 1997 to support your part of an investigation), then you should apply to a future opportunity.  NASA plans to solicit Missions of Opportunity with each AO issued for UNEX, SMEX, and MIDEX missions.





2.  I would like to propose a piggy-back instrument for a mission funded by another US government agency.  Can I propose as a Mission of Opportunity?





Yes.  A Mission of Opportunity is defined to be a non-NASA mission.





*3.  What letters of endorsement do you need for Mission of Opportunity?





There should be some official documentation (e.g. an Announcement of Opportunity) showing that the mission is real and current.  If the status of the mission is well known at NASA, the documents do not have to be submitted with the proposal.





In addition, if the proposed investigation includes contributions from non-NASA sources (e.g. non-US flight hardware), a supporting letter or letters is required from the rest of the investigation team.  This might be as simple as a letter from the overall investigation’s PI outlining the breakdown of work he intends to propose to the mission.





Because NASA selection of a Mission of Opportunity only results in a commitment from NASA as a proposal goes forward to the mission’s funding agency, no letters of endorsement are expected from the funding agency until after their selection process is complete.





*4.  Does the $38M cap on Total Mission Costs apply to Missions of Opporunity or is the only restriction on total Mission of Opportunity cost that it not exceed about $20M?





There is a limit of about $20M on funding from the Explorer Program to support participation in Missions of Opportunity.  No other cap applies to Missions of Opportunity.


